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St atenment of the Proceedings

These consol i dated proceedi ngs concern Notices of Contests
filed by the operator against MSHA pursuant to section 105(d) of
the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U.S.C. O
815(d), challenging the legality of two section 104(a) citations
and one section 104(b) order issued to the
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operator in February, 1987. The operator is charged with all eged
vi ol ati ons of section 103(a) of the Act, because of its refusa
to permt an MSHA inspector to conduct spot inspections pursuant
to section 103(i) of the Act. A hearing was held in Reading,
Pennsyl vania, and while the parties were afforded an opportunity
to file posthearing briefs, they have not done so. However,

have consi dered the oral arguments nmade by counsel on the record
during the hearing in these proceedi ngs.

Applicable Statutory and Regul atory Provisions

1. The Federal Mne Safety and Health Act of 1977, 30 U. S.C.
0 301 et seq

2. Sections 103(a) and (i) of the Act, 30 U.S.C. 0O 813(a)
and (i); and section 110(i), 30 U.S.C. 0O 820(i).

3. Conmission Rules, 29 C.F.R 0O 2700.1 et seq.
| ssues
The issues presented in this matter include the foll ow ng:

1. VWhether the operator violated section 103(a) of the
Act by denying entry to the inspector for the purpose

of conducting a section 103(i) spot inspection, and if
so, the appropriate civil penalties to be inposed for

the violations.

2. Whether the facts and evidence adduced in this
matter support MSHA' s contention that the operator has
not been subjected to any illegal or discrimnatory

i nspections pursuant to section 103(i) of the Act.

3. Whether the facts and evidence adduced in this
matter support the operator's contention that no valid
or legal basis exists at this time for MSHA' s
continuing its mne on an indefinite section 103(i)
spot 5Aday inspection cycle.

4. \Whether the statutory | anguage found in section
103(i) of the Act with respect to an occurrence of a
met hane ignition or explosion "during the previous five
years," automatically
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terminates MSHA's authority to keep the mine on a 5Aday spot
i nspection status at the expiration of 5 years, during which tinme
no further methane ignitions or explosions within the meaning of
section 103(i) have occurred.

5. Whether the aforesaid statutory | anguage authorizes
or requires MSHA to continue its 5Aday spot inspections
of the mne ad infinitum subsequent to the expiration
of 5 years fromthe date of the nethane ignition and
expl osion which initially placed the mine in that
status.

6. Additional issues raised by the parties are
identified and di sposed of in the course of these
deci si ons.

Stipul ations

The parties stipulated to the follow ng (Joint ExhibitA2;
Tr. 7):

1. Randy Rothermel is the Managi ng Partner of Tracey
Sl ope.

2. The mne is subject to the Federal M ne Safety and
Heal th Act of 1977.

3. The presiding Adm nistrative Law Judge has
jurisdiction over the proceedi ngs pursuant to section
105 of the Act.

4. The citations, orders, and nodifications, involved
herein were properly served by a duly authorized
representative of the Secretary of Labor upon an agent
of the operator at the dates, tines, and places stated
therein, and may be adnmitted into evidence for the

pur pose of establishing their issuance.

5. The parties stipulate to the authenticity of their
exhibits but not to the rel evance or the truth of the
matters asserted therein.

6. The operator had a nultiple nonfatal nethane

expl osion accident at its Tracey Sl ope M ne on February
10, 1982, which resulted in serious injuries to three

m ners.
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7. Following this incident, the operator was put on a 5Aday spot
i nspection series under section 103(i) of the Act by MSHA. The
basis for this action was that a "nethane ignition or explosion
had occurred which resulted in serious injury.”

8. This m ne has been subject to 5Aday spot inspections
at irregular intervals since that tine.

9. There has been no nmethane ignitions or explosions at
this mine resulting in serious injury since the

acci dent on February 10, 1982. The m ne has not

| i berated "excessive quantities of methane" as that
termis defined in section 103(i).

10. On February 12, 1987, MSHA |nspector Victor G

M ckat avage of the Shamokin Field Office arrived at the
m ne to conduct a section 103(i) spot inspection. M.
Randy Rothernel, an owner of the mine, stated that he
was denying entry to the nmine to conduct a section
103(i) spot inspection. M. Rothernel stated, however,
that he would pernmit any inspection other than an

i nspection pursuant to section 103(i).

11. At 11:45 a.m, the MSHA inspector issued Citation
No. 2840770 under section 103(a) of the Act for the
denial of entry, allowi ng 45 mnutes to abate.

12. At 12:30 p.m, the MSHA inspector issued a section
104(b) wi thdrawal order, Order No. 2840771, under
section 103(a) of the Act for failure to abate Citation
No. 2840770, which order did not prohibit entry into

t he m ne.

13. On February 13, 1987, the MSHA i nspector returned
to the mne and issued a Modification to Citation No.
2840770 and Order No. 2840771, and entry to performa
section 103 (i) inspection was agai n denied.
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14. On February 19, 1987, the MSHA i nspector was agai n denied

entry to the mine to conduct a section 103(i) spot inspection

The MSHA inspector issued Citation No. 28040772 for failure to
conply with the section 104(b) Wthdrawal Order No. 2840771 as
nmodi fi ed Order 2840771A01.

15. A letter dated Septenber 15, 1986, Exhibit "CAL,"
is atrue and correct copy of a letter sent by Randy
Rot hermel to the then acting District Manager, Joseph
Garcia, the District Manager of Coal Mne Safety and
Health, District No. 1

16. During the 24Anpont hs preceding the date of the
contested citations and order, the operator received a
total of 24 citations and was subject to a total of 142
i nspection days.

17. The operator is a small underground anthracite m ne
operator, enploying three to five peopl e underground,
and two people on the surface, and has an annual coa
producti on of approximately 4,000 tons (Tr. 33, 170).

Di scussi on

The citations and order issued in these proceedi ngs, all of
which all ege violations of section 103(a) of the Act, are as

foll ows:

Section 104(a) non-"S & S" Citation No. 2840770, February
12, 1987 (Docket Nos. PENN 87A121AR, and PENN 87A235).

On 2A12A87, Randy Rothernel, partner and m ne foreman,
refused to allow Victor G M ckatavage, an authorized
representative of the Secretary, entry into the Tracey
Sl ope M ne for the purpose of conducting an inspection
of the mine pursuant to section 103(a) of the Act. M.
Rot hermel stated that the inspector (Federal) could not
enter the mne to conduct the 103(i) inspection

Section 104(b) "S & S" Order No. 2840771, February 12, 1987

(Docket

No. PENN 87A122AR):
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Randy Rot hernel, partner and mine foreman, continued to deny

Vi ctor M ckatavage, authorized representative of the Secretary,
the right of entry into the Tracey Slope mine for the purpose of
conducting an inspection of the mne in accordance with the
requi rements of section 103(a) of the Act on 2A12A87 after the
expiration of a reasonable tine allowed for M. Rothernel to
conply.

Section 104(a) "S & S" Citation No. 2840772, February 19,
1987 (Docket Nos. PENN 87A124AR, and PENN 87A176).

The operator failed to conply with 104(b) order of

wi t hdrawal No. 2840771 dated 2A12A87 and nodified
2A17A87, issued for failure to abate a 104(a) Citation
No. 2840770 dated 2A12A87, issued to section 103(a) of
the Act. One gunboat of coal was observed bei ng hoi sted
from under ground.

The essential facts in these proceedings are not in dispute.
On February 10, 1982, at approximately 8:10 p.m, a nethane gas
expl osion occurred at the mine, and three | aborers working in the
m ne received burn injuries. As a result of this incident, which
occurred over 5Ayears ago, the mne operator has been subjected
to spot inspections by MSHA once during every 5 working days at
regular intervals in accordance with section 103(i).

On February 12, 1987, the nmine operator, believing that
MSHA' s rights of inspection pursuant to section 103(i) had
expired and | apsed, denied entry to MSHA I nspector Victor
M ckat avage for purposes of conducting a section 103(i)

i nspection. At the time of the denial of entry, the operator

advi sed the inspector that he would permit any form of inspection
ot her than an inspection pursuant to section 103(i) of the Act.
As a result of the operator's failure to allow the inspector
entry to conduct a section 103(i) inspection, the inspector

i ssued the citations and order in question.

Duri ng opening statenments at the hearing, MSHA' s counse
stated that the citations and order resulted fromthe operator's
denial of entry to its mne by MSHA inspectors on different
occasions. The inspectors sought entry for the purpose of
conducting section 103(i) inspections, and they did so in the
exercise of their right of inspection pursuant to section 103(a)
of the Act. Recognizing the fact that MSHA's right of
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i nspection may not be exercised illegally or in a discrimnatory
manner, counsel asserted that MSHA has an absolute right of
warrantless entry, and that the inspectors were attenpting to
exercise that right pursuant to section 103(i). MSHA's vi ew of
the issue presented in these proceedings is whether or not the
operator was being subjected to illegal or discrimnatory

i nspections pursuant to section 103(i) of the Act as alleged by
the operator.

MSHA' s counsel pointed out that the operator contends that
the attenpted section 103(i) spot inspections were illega
because 5 years have passed since the operator was initially put
on notice that its mne was on a section 103(i) spot inspection
cycl e because of a nethane explosion which resulted in serious
injuries. Contrary to the operator's contention, MSHA takes the
position that there is no automatic term nation of section 103(i)
spot inspections after the passage of 5 years fromthe event
which initially placed the mine in that inspection posture.
MSHA' s position is that it has discretion, based on the
particul ar conditions present in a mne, to determ ne whether or
not the mne should exit or remain subject to continued section
103(i) 5Aday spot inspections. MSHA asserted that its evidence
establ i shes that the decision to maintain the mne on the spot
i nspection cycle was based on MSHA's continued fear of the
presence of nmethane gas in the mine. Under the circunstances,
MSHA concl udes that it has acted well within its statutory
authority to continue the section 103(i) spot inspections to the
present time (Tr. 8A9).

The operator's counsel stated that section 103(i) sets forth
certain criteria for the conduct of spot inspections every 5
days, nanely; (1) liberation of excessive quantities of nmethane
gas as that termis defined by the Act, (2) a nethane ignition or
explosion resulting in death or serious injury within the
previous 5 years, or (3) the existence of other hazardous m ne
conditions. Counsel contended that in the case at hand, the only
mning activity tested during any of the section 103(i)

i nspections was a test for methane, and on one occasion
ventilation testing. Counsel asserted that the sol e purpose
advanced by MSHA to the operator for its desire to conduct the
i nspections was the opinion by MSHA's district office that it
could continue its inspections without any of the necessary
criteria found in section 103(i) of the Act.

Counsel pointed out that it is uncontroverted that the
operator has allowed MSHA entry to its mine for the purpose of
conducting any other type of inspections, including regular spot
i nspections, and has only resisted MSHA's attenmpts to
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continue with section 103(i) spot inspections every 5 days.
Counsel contended that the mne has been subjected to 142

i nspection days in a period of |ess than 24 nonths, and that
taking into account the nunber of days the mine has been closed,
MSHA' s i nspections have anbunted to a substantial interference
with the operator's mining activity (Tr. 9A11).

Counsel stated that by letter dated Septenmber 15, 1986,
(Exhibit CAl1), the operator wote a letter to MSHA's Acting
Di strict Manager, Joseph Garcia, WIkesABarre, Pennsylvani a,
advising himof all of the facts incident to the prior nethane
ignition which triggered the 5Aday spot inspection cycle, and
requesting a ruling as to whether or not the mne could be
removed fromits spot inspection status, but that the letter
remai ns unanswer ed. Counsel suggested that since MSHA did not
respond to the operator's letter, it believed that the only way
it could resolve the question was to create a circunstance under
which a violation would be issued, thereby providing a forumin
which to decide the propriety of the section 103(i) spot
i nspections (Tr. 11).

Conceding that the operator's letter was not answered,
MSHA' s counsel asserted that while no formal response was
forthcom ng, nunerous neetings have been hel d between MSHA
personnel and the operator to discuss the matter, and that these
di scussi ons woul d constitute a verbal response to the operator's
letter (Tr. 11). MSHA's Shampkin Area Field O fice Supervisor
James Schoffstall confirmed that Acting District Manager Garcia
has since returned to his regular duty station in the Pittsburgh
area, and that the operator's |letter may have been mislaid or
m srouted. M. Schoffstall confirmed that he has not seen the
letter, and the operator's counsel confirmed that there was sone
di al ogue between M. Randy Rothernel, the operator, M.
Schoffstall, and the inspector, but that no responsive witten
reply has ever been received by M. Rothernel with regard to his
letter (Tr. 14A15). M. Schoffstall also confirned that he has
consulted with his supervisor in the district office, Edward
Connor, Acting District Manager, who in turn consulted with
MSHA' s headquarters in Arlington, Virginia, and that Arlington's
answer "was that this five years is a minimum and there is no
time limt" (Tr. 16).

MSHA' s counsel confirnmed that MSHA still has under
consideration the seeking of a court injunction to allowit to
gain entry to the mne for the purpose of continuing its section
103(i) spot mine inspections every 5 days, but that it has not
done so as of the tine of the hearing. Counsel pointed out that
the violations in issue in these proceedi ngs were abated
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after a period of tinme when the operator permitted entry to the
i nspectors for the purpose of conducting section 103(i) spot

i nspections, and that MSHA abandoned any recourse to injunctive
action. However, the operator has again started to turn away its
i nspectors, and injunctive relief is again being considered by
MSHA. The operator's counsel confirnmed that this was true, but
stated that the operator is no |longer permtting entry to the

i nspectors because of the instant litigation, and MSHA's counse
confirmed that another series of citations are likely to be

i ssued because of the operator's renewed and continued refusal to
permt section 103(i) spot inspections (Tr. 12A14).

MSHA' s counsel confirmed that the operator at the present
time is not only refusing entry for spot inspections, but is also
refusing any type of entry to MSHA i nspectors, even for regular
i nspections. The operator's counsel asserted that "we are not
wor ki ng the mne" (Tr. 17).

MSHA' s Testi nony and Evi dence

James E. Schoffstall, Supervisor, MSHA District No. 1
Shanokin Field O fice, confirmed that he has been in that
position since Novenber, 1980, and that his duties include the
supervision of a staff of 13 MSHA inspectors. He testified as to
hi s background and experience, including the managenent of two
m nes as a superintendent, and he confirned that he hol ds mne
foreman papers issued by the State of Pennsylvania (Tr. 19A22).

M. Schoffstall confirmed that the mine in question has been
within his enforcenment jurisdiction since February, 1985, when it
was taken over from MSHA's Pottsville or Schuyl kill AHaven of fice.
He confirmed that he has been in the m ne nunerous tinmes, and
that he was familiar with the citations and orders issued by MSHA
I nspector Victor M ckatavage (joint exhibitAl). M. Schoffstal
confirmed that he di scussed the circunstances surrounding the
i ssuance of the violations with Inspector M ckatavage, who works
under his supervision, and that M. M ckatavage issued the
vi ol ati ons because he was denied entry to the nine for the
pur pose of conducting section 103(i) inspections, and was
hindered in his attenpts to conduct the inspections (Tr. 22A24).

M. Schoffstall confirmed that the mne is also subject to
annual and quarterly inspections, including follow up inspections
in connection with the issuance of any citations or orders. He
al so confirnmed that the m ne became subject to the section 103(i)
spot inspections after a multiple nonfata
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nmet hane expl osi on acci dent which occurred at the m ne on February
10, 1982, and he identified exhibit GAlL as the official MSHA
accident investigation report of that incident which he obtained
from MSHA's District No. 1 office in WlkesABarre (Tr. 25).

M. Schoffstall was of the opinion that section 103(i) was
enacted "for the sole reason of troubled m nes. Mainly, Number 1,
was excessive anmount of gases; Nunber 2, if a mine experienced an
expl osion; and then al so you have another category for specia
hazards" (Tr. 34). He also believed that section 103(i) mandates
that inspections "be made under periodic tine limt," nanely once
every S5Aworking days at irregular intervals in this case, "to see
that they are conplying with the law, and to see that the
conditions are being controlled" (Tr. 36).

Wth regard to the | anguage of section 103(i) concerning
nmet hane or other gas expl osions which have resulted in death or
serious injury during the previous 5 years, M. Schoffstall was
of the viewthat this stated time frame is a m ni num anount of
time that the mine nmust be placed on the section 103(i) spot
i nspection cycle, and that it is not a maximumtinme limtation
M. Schoffstall was of the further view that MSHA coul d conti nue
its section 103(i) spot inspections if it "feels that the mne is
on the borderline or it is subject to a condition happening again
in that mne" (Tr. 36).

M. Schoffstall confirmed that since the 1982 ignition, the

m ne experienced another methane ignition in 1985 in the Nunmber 4
Level West Gangway Section where sonme nmethane was ignited as a
cut of coal was fired fromthe base. That ignition did not result
in any injuries or death, and the incident was investigated by
MSHA's Pottsville office (Tr. 40). He identified exhibit GA2 as a
copy of the official MSHA investigation report of that incident
(Tr. 43).

M. Schoffstall confirmed that he considered M. Rothernel's
verbal requests made to Inspector M ckatavage 2 or 3Aweeks prior
to the denial of entry to be renoved fromthe section 103(i) spot
i nspection series because the 5Ayear period has expired. M.
Schoffstall stated that after discussing the request with his
superiors, "we feel that the mne still should be considered
within the 103(i) category." M. Schoffstall stated that the
reasons for this included "the condition that the mine is in with
the unlimted amunt of ventilation, and the irregularity of the
ventil ati onAand al so, the i mediate area where they are now
wor ki ng has a condition of roof control along with a new area
that they intend
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to devel opment which is to the east which allows an additiona
taxation on the ventilation systeni (Tr. 50A51).

M. Schoffstall confirnmed that the decision to deny M.
Rot hermel's request to be renoved fromthe section 103(i) spot
i nspection cycle was a "joint decision" nmade by hinself, Acting
Di strict Manager Edward C. Connor, and |nspector M ckatavage, and
that the decision was communi cated verbally to M. Rothernmel who
was "basically" informed of the reasons for the decision (Tr.
51A53). MSHA's counsel confirned that the decision in question
was not formalized in witing, and M. Schoffstall confirmed that
his office has never inforned an operator in witing that he
woul d be renmoved from any section 103(i) inspection cycle because
MSHA has never been challenged in this regard (Tr. 51A54).

M. Schoffstall stated that three other nmines in his
district are presently on a section 103(i) spot inspection cycle,
for reasons other than a nmethane ignition, and that two mnes are
on that cycle because of inpounding water (Tr. 55). In the
i nstant case, M. Schoffstall could think of no reason why the
operator has not been advised in witing as to the specific
reasons why MSHA is keeping himon the section 103(i) spot
i nspection cycle (Tr. 56), and that "we've never done it any
other way in the district except verbally" (Tr. 57).

M. Schoffstall stated that i mediately after the denial of
entry in this case, a neeting was held in MSHA's office with the
operator's counsel Diehl present, and the matter was di scussed.
At that time, M. Rothernel was advised of MSHA' s decision to
keep the mine on a section 103(i) cycle (Tr. 61). M. Schoffstal
could not confirm whether Inspector M ckatavage informed M.

Rot hermel of these reasons during their discussions prior to the
refusal of entry (Tr. 61).

M. Schoffstall testified to the specific reasons previously
alluded to as to why the decision was nmade to keep the mine on
the section 103(i) cycle. Referring to a mine map (exhibit GA7),
he alluded to certain air nmeasurenments made during past
i nspections, sone purported roof problens necessitating
retimbering, and an unplanned roof fall w thin the past 4 nonths
in an escape route. He believed that any roof fall in either the
mai n intake or return presented the possibility of blocking the
entrance and possibly restricting ventilation. However, he
confirmed that the unplanned roof fall was addressed by
devel oping a new area to go around it, and that no injuries
resulted fromthat fall (Tr. 61A65).
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M. Schoffstall further alluded to air measurenments taken al ong
t he haul age slope indicating 8 to 10 thousand cubic feet of air
in the main intake and return resulting fromair short-circuiting
t hrough sone ol d stoppings, and other areas of possible air
| eakage through an area which is planned for devel opnent in an
easterly direction. He also alluded to citations which were
i ssued for air |eakage through sone tenporary stoppings, and
indicated that the air at that |ocation was "just a mninal
anount” to neet the requirenments of the law (Tr. 66).

M. Schoffstall discussed the operator's intentions to
install overcasts at the gangway |evel as it developed to the
east, and he indicated that this may place an additional burden
on the ventilation system caused by air | eakage which may be
created by crosscuts and openi ngs which need to be stopped off
(Tr. 67). In response to questions concerning the operator's
intentions to mine to the east, M. Schoffstall confirmed that
the operator is required to file ventilation plan changes as it
devel ops or anticipates to devel op new m ne areas, and he
confirmed that a new ventilation plan has been filed. He al so
confirmed that in this case, MSHA has approved the operator's
ventilation plan to neet the m ni mum standard of 3,000 cubic feet
of air at the face, and 5,000 at the | ast open crosscut (Tr. 68).
However, he indicated that MSHA is not certain whether the
exi sting ventilation systemis enough to cover the area being
devel oped to the east, and that this is part of the reasons why
it wants to keep the nmne on a section 103(i) inspection cycle
(Tr. 68).

M. Schoffstall confirmed that MSHA wi shes to keep the
operator on the section 103(i) inspection cycle in the newmy
devel oped area because of its "pending devel opnent." He conceded,
however, that MSHA will still have to review the adequacy of the
ventilation in 3 or 6 months intervals, and he conceded that such
an evaluation of the ventilation could be done independently of
any section 103(i) inspection. He further conceded that if the
m ne had not experienced a prior nethane ignition, any perceived
ventilation problem would not necessarily be reason enough to
pl ace the mine on a section 103(i) inspection cycle (Tr. 69). He
confirmed that the mine is located in a gassy vein, and that
coupled with the asserted bad roof, these conditions are inherent
to the mine (Tr. 70).

M. Schoffstall confirmed that while he believed that the
m ne has a "borderline" ventilation system MSHA nonethel ess has
approved the ventilation plan, and keeping the nmine on a section
103(i) inspection status will facilitate MSHA' s monitoring of the
ventilation (Tr. 73).
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In further explanation of the decision to keep the nmne on a

section 103(i) inspection cycle, M. Schoffstall stated as
follows (Tr. 75A76):

A. Okay. The basis was, Number 1, was the ventilation
system the irregularities of the ventilation system
the problens that they were having with the roof
control, holding the return entries open; and the
constant pressure on the main intake; 3, was the
ventilation systemto the east, will it be effective
enough to be able to liberate the nmethane that they're
going to encounter; and Nunmber 4 is, that they're going
towards an uncharted area that's filled with water
which we will require a bore hole plan

JUDGE KOUTRAS: A bore hole plan?

THE W TNESS: Yes. In other words, when they get within
two hundred feet of the uncharted workings that we have
no mappi ng on, then they must start drilling in advance
to locate this water.

BY MS. JORDAN

Q If itA

JUDGE KOUTRAS: But, that would be required, independent
of any 103(i)?

THE WTNESS: That's right. That will go under specia
i nspection.

kkhkkkkhkkkkk*k

A Al right. What it is is the inconsistency of the
ventilation puts a borderline on the anmount of
ventilation available at the working faces to sweep
away the noxi ous gasses. Number 2, is the possible

bl ockage, due to an unplanned roof fall in the returns
could cause a restriction of ventilation, that would

al so cause a buildup of nmethane at the faces. And, then
the area in which they're going to tax additiona
efforts out of the ventilation systemto the east, al
in conjunction with it
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puts the mne at an area where we feel it's borderline as to the
abilities of keeping the faces clean of methane.

M. Schoffstall identified and reviewed copies of citations
i ssued to the operator for violations of the roof contro
requi renents of mandatory safety standard section 75.200, the
ventilation air requirenents of section 75.301, and the
ventilation plan requirements of section 75.316 (exhibits GA3
through GA5, Tr. 87A94; 98A102; 117A118; 119A122).

M. Schoffstall confirmed that he did not issue any of the
citations, and that he was not present when they were issued (Tr.
122A123). He also confirnmed that he retrieved the copies from
MSHA's files in response to the operator's prehearing
interrogatories, and while he may have previously reviewed the
citations after they were issued as part of his supervisory
duties, he would only have reviewed those issued by |nspectors
Donn Lorenz and Victor M ckatavage, from his Shamokin office, but
not those issued by inspectors from MSHA's Pottsville office (Tr.
124A125). He confirned that the citations in question have al
been abated (Tr. 155).

M. Schoffstall further confirnmed that when he assenbl ed the
copies of the prior citations, he did not include copies of any
ext ensi ons which may have been issued, nor did he include copies
of any abaterment or termnation notices unless the abatenment was
shown on the face of the citation itself (Tr. 144). MSHA' s
counsel stated that any term nations and extensions relevant to
the citations were included with her responses to the operator's
di scovery requests, and that they are a matter of record (Tr.
146A147) .

On cross-exam nation, M. Schoffstall reiterated that he did
not conduct any of the prior inspections or issue any of the
citations previously referred to. Wth regard to any net hane
tests conducted in the mne, M. Schoffstall confirmed that he
has never personally conducted any such tests, but has
acconpani ed an inspector when he did it. Wth regard to his prior
testi mony speculating to a 50 percent loss of air in the
ventilation circuit, M. Schoffstall conceded that he perforned
no test to support any such statement (Tr. 154A155).

M. Schoffstall confirmed that he was present at a
conference with counsel Diehl during which he stated to counse
that the sole basis for the section 103(i) inspections was the
prior methane ignition which resulted in injury to two men. When
asked whether that was still his position, M. Schoffstal
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responded "Because of the expl osion, because of the conditions of
the expl osion, yes" (Tr. 154A155). Wth regard to the 1985
ignition incident, M. Schoffstall confirned that it was reported
to MSHA by the operator (Tr. 158).

Contestant's Testinony and Evi dence

Randy Rothernel, the operator of the mine, confirnmed that
MSHA | nspector Victor M ckatavage was at the mne on February 12,
1987, and requested entry for the purpose of conducting a section
103(i) inspection. M. Rothermel acknow edge that he informed the
i nspector that he could conduct any other kind of an inspection
except for a section 103(i) inspection. As a result of his
refusal to permt the inspector to conduct a section 103(i)
i nspection, the inspector issued hima citation, but did not
prohibit himfrom proceeding with his mning activities (Tr.
160A161). At the expiration of a half an hour, the inspector then
served himwith an order, and that too did not prohibit himfrom
continuing with his mning activities. He received another order
some 5 days later (Tr. 162). M. Rothernel confirmed that he had
witten a letter to MSHA's Acting District Manager Garcia
approximately 4 to 6 nonths earlier, but has received no response
fromM. Garcia or anyone else (Tr. 163).

On cross-exam nation, M. Rothernel acknow edged that he has
often di scussed with MSHA inspectors, including M. M ckatavage,
the matter concerning section 103(i) inspections, and that they
never advised himthat he could not at the present tine be
removed fromthe section 103(i) spot inspection cycle. Wen asked
what the inspectors nmay have told him M. Rothernel responded
"They said, if you think that's the law, you have to fight it. So
that's what we're doing here today" (Tr. 164).

In response to further questions, M. Rothernel stated that
he was pronpted to wite his letter after first receiving a copy
of the Act, and that prior to that tine "I didn't know what a
103(i) was." In addition, he stated that he spoke with M. Garcia
by tel ephone before witing the letter, and that M. Garcia told
himto wite to him His refusal to pernmit the inspector to
conduct a section 103(i) inspection was based on the fact that he
recei ved no response to his letter (Tr. 165A166).

M. Rothernel stated that another m ne operator who operates
a mne adjacent to and behind his (Wl fgand Brothers), was in a
section 103(i) inspection status for 7 years for experiencing the
same type of ignition as that which occurred
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in his mne, but was taken off by MSHA. Since that operator was
taken off, M. Rothernmel acknow edged that his curiosity was
aroused as to why his mne was still in a section 103(i) status
(Tr. 167). M. Rothernel indicated that the adjacent nine
operator was taken off after he wote his letter to M. Garcia
(Tr. 168). After consulting with M. Schoffstall at counse
tabl e, MSHA's counsel confirmed that the nine operator referred
to by M. Rothernel was in fact in a section 103(i) status, but
was renoved after 7 years (Tr. 167).

M. Rothermel stated that his m ne has operated on an
average 4Aday weekly basis for the past 5 years, and that he
spends approximately 4 hours a week with a Federal inspector
during a section 103(i) inspection. He also stated that his mne
has been subjected to four AAA regular MSHA inspections, and that
the tinme spent on those inspections ranged "from four days
straight, to some mx with the AAA or the 103(i)" (Tr. 169). He
estimated that during each work week, he has had one and a
hal f-days of inspections (Tr. 169).

M. Rothermel stated that the section 103(i) inspections
have interfered with his operation of the mne, and he expl ai ned
as follows at (Tr. 170A171):

THE WTNESS: Wth only three to five guys there, one
guy is with an inspector, well, there's only two

wor king, and |'musually the guy, and |I'mthe forenman
to start with. It usually consists of going out of the
m ne, talking to an inspector, seeing what he wants to
see, or whatever, then we go down. The inspection
actually lasts maybe a half an hour

kkhkkkkhkkkkk*k

THE WTNESS: It's not only the inspections thenselves,
there's so much other business to go with it. Roof
control plans, ventilation plans, all kinds of other
stuff, it's really getting to be tine consuni ng

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Are you also regul ated by the state?
THE W TNESS: Yes.

JUDGE KQUTRAS: Are you on any kind of a spot
i nspecti onA
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THE W TNESS: No.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: Acycle with the state?

THE W TNESS: One inspection day every two nonths.
JUDGE KOUTRAS: One inspection day every two nonths.
THE W TNESS: Yes.

M. Rothermel confirmed that although the mne works 4 days
a week, people may be at the site on the other 3 days running
punps, cutting tinmber, or doing repair work. In 1984, at the time
sone of the citations were extended, the m ne worked 2 days a
nmont h, and an i nspector was there on each day. During regular
i nspecti ons when an inspector is there for four straight days, he
usual |y spends 3 days underground and 1 day doi ng surface
i nspections or reviewing mne records. On sone AAA inspections,
an inspector may be at the mne for 6 days in a row, or less, in
order to conplete the inspection (Tr. 172A176).

M. Schoffstall was recalled by the Court to explain the
ci rcunst ances under which the other mne operator referred to by
M. Rothernel was taken off the section 103(i) cycle, and he
testified as follows (Tr. 177A178):

THE WTNESS: All right. The operator had a ventilation
and gas liberating mne which was put on, initially,
because of an explosion. The operator requested that he
be taken off, you know, which is the sane thing M.

Rot her mel had done. We reviewed it. We reviewed the

ci rcunmst ances, and we recomrended he be taken off
because the conditions in the m ne had changed. He had
adequate air. He didn't have the nmethane |iberations
any nore at the face areas. So, we felt it secure. W
were very confortable in taking himoff the 103(i).

JUDGE KOUTRAS: What distinguishes that case fromthis
one in your mnd?

THE W TNESS: Well, actually, two things. The liberation
content. They dropped their |iberation content. They
went into another section of the mne and [ost their
nmet hane. They
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Sect i

didn't have near the anobunt of methane being |iberated out of
that mine as to what they did prior. Nunber two was, they had
established a better airway systemand a better ventilation
system In other words they were on a retreat, a mning process
which didn't involve as nuch face ventilation as what they had
prior. And we seen no reason, the roof was good, their
ventilation was good, and we seen no reason to keep them on.

JUDGE KOUTRAS:. Do you know what the frequency of their
citations has been since they were taken off?

THE WTNESS: | would say a normal small mne, not that
many. | couldn't count as nunber-w se, but |I would say
very few.

JUDGE KOUTRAS: How do they conpare in size to this
operator, do you have any idea?

THE W TNESS: About the sane size.
JUDGE KOUTRAS: About the sane size.

THE W TNESS: This m ne here is developed a little
bigger. It's nore to maintain than what they have.
They're not down as deep or extended as far. But,
size-wi se, manpower about the sane.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
on 103(i) of the Act provides as follows:

Whenever the Secretary finds that a coal or other mne
| i berates excessive quantities of nethane or other

expl osive gases during its operation, or that a nethane
or other gas ignition or explosion has occurred in such
m ne which resulted in death or serious injury at any
time during the previous five years, or that there

exi sts in such mne sone other especially hazardous
condition, he shall provide a m ni mum of one spot

i nspection by his authorized representative of all or
part of such mine during every five working days at
irregular intervals. For purposes of this
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subsection, "liberation of excessive quantities of nethane or
ot her expl osive gases” shall nean |liberation of nore than one
mllion cubic feet of methane or other explosive gases during a
24Anour period. Wen the Secretary finds that a coal or other
mne |iberates nore than five hundred thousand cubic feet of
met hane or ot her expl osive gases during a 24Ahour period, he
shall provide a mnimum of one spot inspection by his authorized
representative of all or part of such mine every 10 worki ng days
at irregular intervals. Wen the Secretary finds that a coal or
other mine liberates nmore than two-hundred thousand cubic feet of
met hane or ot her explosive gases during a 24Ahour period, he
shal |l provide a mni mum of one spot inspection by his authorized
representative of all or part of such mne every 15 working days
at irregular intervals.

Al t hough section 103(a) of the Act gives MSHA a right of
entry to the mine for inspection purposes, it seens clear to ne
that MSHA's authority to conduct spot inspections every 5 days
pursuant to section 103(i) is subject to the follow ng
limtations:

Aa mine which |iberates excessive quantities of methane
or other explosive gases during its operations, nanely,
nore than one nmillion cubic feet of nmethane or other
expl osi ve gases during a 24Ahour peri od.

Aa mine which has experienced a nmethane or other gas
ignition or explosion resulting in death or serious
injury at any time during the previous five years.

Aa mne where there exists sone other especially

hazar dous conditi on.

Section 103(a) of the Act requires the Secretary to "devel op
gui delines for additional inspections of mnes based on criteria
i ncluding, but not Iimted to, the hazards found in mines subject
to this Act, and his experience under this Act and other health
and safety laws." The only relevant guidelines that | can find
with respect to the interpretation and application of the spot
i nspection requirenents of section 103(i) of the Act, are those
found in Volume 1, page 17, of
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the Secretary's Coal M ne Inspection Manual, effective Novenber
1, 1982, which states as foll ows:

Spot i nspections nade relative to Section 103(i) should
be made with respect to the hazard(s) that caused the
mne to be placed in this category. For example, if the
mne i s being i nspected because there exists sone

"ot her especially hazardous conditions(s)," such as
serious problenms with the haul age system then the

i nspection activities should be directed toward the
haul age system

The operator wote a detailed letter to MSHA' s Acti ng
Di strict Manager Joseph Garcia, WIkesABarre, Pennsylvania, on
Sept enber 15, 1986, sone 6 nonths before its refusal of entry,
requesting MSHA to consider renoving the mne fromthe section
103(i) spot inspection cycle. In support of its request, the
operator asserted that during the past 4 years its ventilation
system had greatly inproved, greater quantities of air were being
generated at working faces, and that recent testing by MSHA
i nspectors indicated that at the maxi mumthere was 87,000 cubic
feet of methane liberated in a 24Ahour period at the mine. The
letter was not answered.

MSHA' s Shanokin Field O fice Supervisor Schoffstal
testified that he did not see the letter and speculated that it
was either mslaid or lost. | would venture a guess that M.
Schoffstall did not see the letter because he was in Shanmokin and
M. Garcia was in Wl kesABarre. M. Schoffstall confirnmed that he
"basically" verbally infornmed M. Rothermel of his decision not
to renove the mine fromthe 5Aday inspection cycle, and that his
of fice has never infornmed a nmne operator in witing of such
deci si ons because MSHA has never been challenged in this regard
in the past. M. Schoffstall also confirned that he consulted
with his supervisor, who in turn consulted with MSHA's
headquarters, and apparently received a brief oral opinion by
tel ephone. While | find this advisory process to be rather |oose,
it is apparently in keeping with the theory that nothing is
reduced to witing for fear of challenge. However, | believe that
MSHA has a responsibility and obligation to respond in witing to
an operator's request of this kind, and its failure to do so
pronpted the operator here to take a stand and initiate the
litigation in question.

M. Rothernel indicated that he was pronpted to wite the
letter in question when he | earned that another mine operator
near his operation who had been in a section 103(i) spot
i nspection status for 7 years after experiencing a gas expl osion
was
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taken off that status after witing to MSHA requesting that this
be done. M. Schoffstall confirned that this was true, and he
expl ai ned that MSHA term nated the spot inspection status of that
m ne after reviewing the circunstances and finding that the mne
condi ti ons had changed. The changed conditions included a
reduction in the anount of methane liberated at the face areas
and the establishment of a better airway and ventilation system
M. Schoffstall was of the opinion that these two factors

di stinguishes M. Rothernel's nmine fromhis neighbor's nne

| take note of the fact that MSHA's report of investigation
concerning the February 10, 1982, nethane ignition concluded that
the accident occurred because of the operator's failure to follow
proper bl asting procedures, which contributed to the ignition
source, and that it failed to follow proper ventilation practices
which permitted an explosive m xture of nethane to accunulate in
the accident area. Other contributing factors noted by MSHA
included the failure to install adequate ventilation controls,
such as an overcast, regul ators, and stoppings, to direct the
intake air current, and the failure to properly check for methane
before blasting (Exhibit GAl, page 6).

Assum ng the correctness of MSHA's position that the passage
of 5 years without an ignition or explosion resulting in death or
serious injury does not automatically ternminate its discretionary
right to continue to inspect the mine every 5 days, MSHA
nonet hel ess recogni zes the fact that its continued inspections
nmust be based on the particular conditions present in the mne
In this case, MSHA has taken the position that it nust continue
to exercise its perceived discretion to continue to conduct spot
i nspections every 5 days because of its continued fear of the
presence of nethane gas in the mne

The record in this case reflects that during MSHA's
i nvestigation of the ignition which occurred in 1982, the
operator was cited for a violation of section 75.309(b), after
5.0 percent nethane was detected in a return split of air, and
was also cited for having an inoperative methane detector
However, there is no evidence that the operator has ever been
cited for violations of any of the mandatory safety standards
dealing with weekly exam nations for hazardous conditions
(75.305); weekly ventilation exam nations (75.306); nethane
exam nations (75.307); nethane accunul ations in face areas
(75.308); and nethane monitors (75.313).
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In the course of opening argunents, the operator's counse
asserted that subsequent to the February 10, 1982, incident which
pl aced the mine on a 5 day section 103(i) spot inspection cycle,
the only mining activity tested during any of the subsequent
103(i) inspections was one test for methane, and one occasion
when the ventilation was tested.

MSHA has stipul ated that no nethane ignitions or explosions
resulting in serious injury have occurred in the mne since the
acci dent of February 10, 1982, and that the mine has not
i berated "excessive quantities of methane" as that termis
defined by section 103(i). Further, in response to the operator's
di scovery requests with respect to any tests perfornmed show ng
the presence of excessive quantities of methane or other
expl osive gases in the mne, MSHA responded as follows at page 2
of its May 7, 1987, responses:

AThere is no record of methane liberations of nore than
1, 000, 000 cubic feet in 24 hours.

AThere is no record of methane liberations of nore than
500, 000 cubic feet in 24 hours.

Wth respect to the answer to an identical question
concerning the presence of nmethane |iberation of nore than
200, 000 cubic feet in 24 hours, MSHA nmade reference to an
anal ysis of air sanples collected on February 11, 1982, as part
of its investigation of the nethane ignition which occurred on
February 10, 1982. That report reflects a nethane |iberation
| evel of 237,000 cubic feet in 24 hours on that day, and 4.98
percent methane. Copies of the results of additional bottle
sanpl es apparently collected by MSHA during its investigation
during February 11 through 19, 1982, reflect nethane |evels of
0.13, 0.04, 1.34, 0.35, 0.46, 0.15, 0.34, 0.38, 0.20, 0.37, 0.33,
0.18, and 0.41 at the places tested.

The only evidence of any face ignitions which have occurred
at the mne subsequent to February 10, 1982, is an incident which
occurred on July 23, 1985, and the details are discussed in an
MSHA Menorandum of July 26, 1985 (exhibit GA2). The facts show
that the ignition which was reported by the operator, did not
result in any death or serious injury, and MSHA concedes t hat
this ignition incident is not within the statutory definition of
"ignition or explosion" found in section 103(i), and that such an
occurrence, standing along, would not trigger a section 103(i)
spot inspection cycle. MSHA's nenorandum report of this incident
reflects that a citation was issued pursuant to section 75.301
for inadequate face ventilation, and the record reflects that the
operat or took
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i medi ate action to abate the violation. The menorandum al so
reflects the presence of .6 percent nethane at the face, and that
all ventilation controls were in conpliance with MSHA' s

regul ations. The test results taken to support the citation
reflected .23 percent nethane in the i mrediate return off the
face, and .10 percent nmethane in the main return. It also
reflects 17,000 cubic feet of nmethane liberation in 24 hours at
the first noted return |location, and 43,000 feet at the second.

M. Schoffstall confirmed that the mine does liberate
met hane. However, this is true of practically all underground
coal mnes. MSHA has concluded that the m ne has an ongoing
problem wi th nethane liberation in the nmne, yet the only wtness
it presented was M. Schoffstall. Except for two air measurenents
taken in October, 1986, and one air sanple taken in March, 1987,
there is no credi ble evidence in this case that MSHA has ever
conducted a detail ed nethane or ventilation system survey at the
m ne to support its generalized and specul ative concl usi ons that
nmet hane liberation is in fact a hazardous problemin the mne
M. Schoffstall admitted that MSHA has not nonitored the mne to
find out how nmuch methane has been |iberated in the nmne (Tr.
140).

In view of the foregoing, and for the reasons discussed in
nmy findings and concl usions which follow, | conclude and find
that MSHA has failed to present any credi ble probative evidence
to support a conclusion that the m ne has any ongoi ng hazardous
nmet hane probl ens warranting mne inspections every 5 days
pursuant to section 103(i) of the Act.

Al t hough MSHA' s counsel confirnmed that MSHA s reason for
keeping the mne on a 5 day section 103(i) inspection cycle is
out of concern for the presence of nethane in the mne, counse
i ndicated that the general mnine problens as evidenced by the
abated vi ol ati ons which have been introduced in this case,
generally constitute "other especially hazardous conditions"
whi ch i nmpact on the presence of methane in the mine (Tr. 95). A
di scussi on of these alleged hazardous conditions foll ows.

The record in this case establishes that from February 10,
1982, the date the mine was placed on a section 103(i) 5Aday
i nspection status, until February, 1985, a period of 3 years, the
m ne was under the enforcenent jurisdiction of MSHA's Pottsville
or Schuyl kill AHaven Field Office, and that for the past 2 years,
it has been under the jurisdiction of M. Schoffstall's Shanokin
Field Ofice.
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MSHA presented no testinony concerning the prevailing mne
conditions during the 3Ayear period that the mine was inspected
before M. Schoffstall's office assuned jurisdiction of the mne
The only "evidence" produced by MSHA covering that period of tine
was a copy of a section 104(a) citation issued on June 6, 1984,
for a roof control violation, and a citation issued on June 7,
1984, for a violation of section 75.1704, for failure to instal
| adders at an escapeway (Exhibits GA3 and GAG). MSHA produced
none of the inspectors who issued these citations.

Wth regard to MSHA' s inspection and enforcement actions
subsequent to February, 1985, MSHA produced copi es of nine
section 104(a) citations issued during the period March 3, 1985
t hrough October 22, 1986, for violations of the roof contro
requi rements of section 75.200 (exhibit GA3); six section 104(a)
citations issued during the period July 23, 1985 through August
14, 1986, for violations of 75.301, because of inadequate air
ventilation in the last open crosscut (exhibit GA4); two section
104(a) citations issued on April 10 and August 14, 1986, for
vi ol ati ons of section 75.316 because of mi ssing permanent
st oppi ngs (exhibit GA5); and four section 104(a) citations issued
during March 10, 1985 through Cctober 16, 1985, for violations of
section 75.1704, because of failures to provide |adders at
certain escapeway |ocations, and failure to clean up debris from
escapeways (exhibit GAG). One section 104(b) order was issued on
March 10, 1986, for failure to abate an escapeway viol ati on which
was issued on June 7, 1984 (exhibit GAB).

MSHA al so failed to produce for testinmony any of the
i nspectors who issued the post-February, 1985, citations.
However, | note that in each instance, the inspectors made
gravity findings of "reasonably likely," and negligence findings
rangi ng from"noderate" to "low' on the face of the citation
forms. Further, although M. Schoffstall reviewed and identified
the citations during the course of the hearing, he conceded that
he did not issue any of the citations, and that he was not
present during any of the inspections which resulted in the
i ssuance of the citations. Consequently, MSHA has presented no
credible or reliable probative testinony concerning the
prevailing mne conditions at the time these citations were
i ssued.

I have reviewed the copies of the abatenment and term nation
noti ces concerning all of the aforenmentioned citations which MSHA
produced in response to the operator's pretrial discovery
requests, and | find that with the exception of the one section
104(b) order for failure to abate a violation of
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section 75.1704, which MSHA had extended for over a year and a
hal f, all of the remaining violations were tinmely abated within
the initial or extended time fixed by the inspectors for
abatenment. | also find that in the case of one of the violations
i ssued on July 24, 1985, for a violation of section 75.301, MSHA
noted that the operator took i mmediate action to abate the
violative ventilation conditions, and in another violation issued
on June 11, 1986, for a violation of section 75.301, MSHA vacated
the violation after finding that sufficient ventilation was in
fact provided.

In response to the operator's pretrial discovery requests
for an identification and description of any "especially hazard
condi tion" which MSHA maintains exists at the mne, and the dates
on whi ch these conditions were di scovered and comuni cated to the
operator, MSHA's counsel provided a narrative sumuary suggesting
that the mine has nethane probl ens, roof control problens, an
i nconsi stent ventilation system and a need to nmonitor a
proj ected devel opnent toward i npounded water (See Addendum #6
Answer to Interrogatories).

The af orenenti oned summary makes reference to certain air
measurenents nade on the ventilation intake system on October 22
and 30, 1986, and March 23, 1987, and one sanple taken in an
i mediate return on March 24, 1987. It al so contains a nunber of
undocument ed concl usi ons concerning the mne ventilation and roof
control, and there is no indication as to who may have prepared
the summary.

MSHA' s response identifies October 22 and 30, 1986, and
March 24, 1987, as the dates that the alleged "especially
hazardous conditions" were discovered, and it refers to the
previously issued citations concerning violations of sections
75. 316, 75.301, 75.1704, and 75.200, in support of the alleged
"especially hazardous conditions." These particular citations
have previously been di scussed. However, MSHA has presented no
testi mony or evidence documenting the Cctober, 1986, and March,
1987, air ventilation tests, and there is no evidence that any
citations were issued as a result of the air measurenments MSHA
has characterized in the summary as "especially hazardous
conditions" existing in COctober, 1986, and March, 1987.

MSHA failed to produce any of the inspector's who nmay have
conducted any nethane or ventilation tests or surveys subsequent
to the February 10, 1982, ignition incident. M. Schoffstal
confirmed that he personally never conducted any such tests in
the m ne, and while he asserted that he has acconpani ed ot her
i nspectors when they took such tests, no
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details were forthcom ng, and MSHA produced none of the

i nspectors. Although M. Schoffstall alluded to sonme nebul ous
| oss of 50 percent of air in the mne ventilation circuit, his
assertion in this regard remai ns unexpl ai ned, and he conceded
that he perfornmed no test to support any such statenent. M.
Schoffstall al so conceded that absent the prior ignition of
February 10, 1982, his perceptions that the m ne may have sone
ventilation problenms would not necessarily be reason enough to
place the mine in a section 103(i) spot inspection status.

M. Schoffstall confirmed that MSHA wi shes to keep the
operator on a section 103(i) spot 5 day inspection cycle because
of alleged adverse roof conditions, ventilation problenms, and
excessive nmethane liberation in the mne. Al though he is not
identified as the source of MSHA's "especially hazardous
conditions" discovery sunmary, since he was the only MSHA witness
called to testify in this case, | assunme that the information in
the summary cane fromhim As indicated earlier, M. Schoffstal
adm tted that he has never conducted any air ventilation tests,
did not issue any of the prior citations produced by MSHA, and
that he was not present when those citations were issued. |
believe that M. Schoffstall's opinions, conclusions, and
specul ati ons concerning the roof, ventilation, and nethane
conditions which MSHA has identified as the "especially hazardous
conditions" warranting continuous section 103(i) inspections
every 5 days, are based on his review of the prior citations and
the overall mine conpliance record, rather than persona
experience. Under the circumstances, | find his testinmony to be
of little credible or probative val ue.

Wth regard to the alleged mne ventilation "problens,"
al though M. Schoffstall was of the opinion that the mne
ventilation systemwas "borderline," he admtted that the
ventilation system under which the m ne has operated has MSHA' s
approval. Further, the record in this case reflects that in the
most recent past 2Ayears, the operator has been cited only two
times for violations of the ventilation plan requirenents of
section 75.316, because of some m ssing stoppings, and the
violations were tinely abated.

Wth regard to the air ventilation requirenents of section
75.301, M. Schoffstall confirned that the last time he was in
the mne to discuss sone tenporary stoppings, he found that the
operator was neeting the mninmumair ventilation requirenents of
the law (Tr. 66), and that during MSHA' s recent review of the
operator's ventilation plans covering devel opi ng and anti ci pated
devel opnent areas, MSHA has
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approved the mnimum requi renents of 3,000 cubic feet of air a
m nute at the working face and 5,000 cubic feet of air a mnute
at the last open crosscut (Tr. 68). Wile it is true that the
operator has received six citations in the past 2 years for

vi ol ati ons of section 75.301, all of the cited conditions were
tinmely abated, and in one instance, the operator immediately
corrected the conditions, and in another, MSHA vacated the
citation.

In view of all of the forgoing circumstances, and absent any
ot her credible or probative testinony, | cannot conclude that
MSHA has established that the mine ventilation system constitutes
an "especially hazardous condition” warranting conti nuous NMSHA
i nspections every 5 days pursuant to section 103(i) of the Act.
M. Schoffstall admitted that any such ventilation nonitoring may
be acconplished by MSHA through its regular and foll ow up
i nspections i ndependent of section 103(i) (Tr. 69, 72). Although
M. Schoffstall was of the opinion that the nmine ventilation
systemis "borderline" and "inconsistent," there is no evidence
that the operator has consistently violated its approved plan. If
MSHA bel i eves that this is the case, then it should seriously
reflect on why it has continued to approve the operator's plans
in the face of what it believes to be borderline and inconsistent
conduct on the part of the operator

Wth regard to the all eged adverse roof conditions in the
m ne, apart fromthe abated citations which have been issued for
vi ol ati ons of section 75.200, | find no evidence that the
operator has otherw se consistently failed to adhere to the
requi renments of its approved roof-control plan. M. Schoffstal
confirmed that the operator inherited sonme problens when he took
over the mne, and that sone of the roof problens in the
devel opnent areas are inherent to the present natural roof
conditions in the m ne. However, M. Schoffstall confirmed that
the operator has constantly tinbered and re-tinbered mne areas
where the roof is taking weight. He alluded to a recent unpl anned
roof fall which did not result in any injuries, and he confirned
that the operator addressed that problem by devel opi ng a new area
to go around the fall, and establishing a new escapeway from that
area (Tr. 64).

Wth regard to the operator's planned devel opnent in an area
where there is inmpounded water, M. Schoffstall confirned that
when the mning cycle approaches to within 200 feet of the
uncharted workings, the operator must start drilling in advance
to |l ocate the water. However, there is no evidence that the
operator will not performthe advance work required by MSHA s
regul ati ons, and M. Schoffstall admitted that any
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such requirements are independent of section 103(i), and that
this situation woul d be addressed by MSHA by neans of a specia

i nvestigation to insure that proper procedures are followed (Tr.
75) .

Wth regard to the four prior escapeway citations for
vi ol ati ons of section 75.1704, | take note of the fact that three
of the citations were tinely abated, one was a non-S & S
citation, and the abatenent tinme for the remaining citation was
extended by MSHA for over a year and a half. M. Schoffstal
expressed some concern that a roof fall could block an escapeway,
and MSHA's pretrial discovery summary pointed out that a recent
unpl anned fall left the escapeway i npassable. However, the fact
is that the operator inmmedi ately addressed and abated the problem
by m ning around the fall and providing another escape route.
Al t hough one may agree that a roof fall at an escapeway may
prevent a miner fromexiting the nmine by that particular route,
unl ess it can be shown that an operator regularly is out of
conpliance with section 75.1704, or has consistently allowed such
conditions to exist to the point where it becones an ongoi ng
hazard in the mne, | cannot conclude that isolated and sporadic
escapeway citations which are tinely abated constitutes an
"especial ly hazardous condition"” warranting inspections every 5
days.

In view of the foregoing, | cannot conclude that MSHA has
established that the escapeways, roof conditions, and the
projected future devel opment which may approach some i mpounded
wat er constitute "especially hazardous conditions" warranting
conti nuous MSHA inspections every 5 days pursuant to section
103(i).

As previously noted, MSHA' s guideline published in the 1982
I nspector's Manual, states that inspections conducted pursuant to
section 103(i) of the Act should be nade with respect to the
hazard(s) that caused the mne to be placed in this category. M.
Schoffstall confirmed that two other mines in his district are on
section 103(i) 5Aday inspection cycles because of water
i mpoundnent probl enms, which he considered to be a readily
identifiable ongoing hazard (Tr. 55). | assunme that once the
wat er problemis cured, those mnes will be renoved fromtheir
section 103(i) status. Wth regard to the other m ne operator
whose nine is in close proximty to M. Rothernel's, and which
was on a section 103(i) status for 7 years, because of a nethane
ignition or explosion, M. Schoffstall confirmed that it has been
renoved because of inprovenents in the air ventilation system and
a decrease in the amount of nethane |iberated at the face.
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On the facts of this case, MSHA has suggested that the "other
especi al ly hazardous conditions" which are present in the m ne
and which authorizes it to continue to inspect the nmine every 5
days pursuant to section 103(i), include not only ventilation
probl ems, but problems with roof control, escapeways, and a
potential future water inmpoundnent problem However, the basis
for placing the mine on the 5Aday inspection cycle in the first
pl ace was the fact that a nmethane ignition or explosion occurred
on February 10, 1982. MsSHA concl uded that the ignition was the
result of inproper blasting procedures, and the failure to follow
proper ventilation practices. The inproper ventilation practices
were identified as inadequate ventilation controls such as
overcasts, regulators, and stoppings, and the failure to properly
check for nethane before blasting. I find nothing in MSHA' s
i nvestigative report to suggest that any adverse roof conditions,
or the lack of inadequate escapeways, played any role in the
accident. As a matter of fact, item #26, at page 5 of the report
reflects that after the ignition, all enployees were out of the
mne in 10 m nutes.

On the facts of this case, there is no question that the
mne was inititally placed on a section 103(i) 5Aday inspection
cycl e because of the nmethane ignition which occurred on February
10, 1982. MSHA has tacitly admtted that were it not for that
i ncident, the mine would not be on a section 103(i) inspection
cycle. M. Schoffstall admitted that the m ne was not placed in
that category because of any other "especially hazardous
conditions," and while he conceded that MSHA coul d place the nine
in such a "spot inspection hazard" category, it has not done so
in this case because "he was already in a section 103(i)
situation” (Tr. 95). M. Schoffstall was of the opinion that MSHA
"was | ocked into" that situation and stated that "we can't quit
no nore than the operator can quit for the five year period" (Tr.
107A108). M. Schoffstall was of the opinion that the 5 year
reference in section 103(i) is "automatic," and MSHA's counse
was of the view that once an operator is placed in that position,
the Act mandates that MSHA inspect the mine every 5 working days.
When asked how | ong the operator would remain in that inspection
cycle, MSHA's counsel responded "until it is taken off," and M.
Schoffstall responded "for five years"” (Tr. 108). Although
consi der these responses to be contradictory, MSHA' s counsel took
the position that 5 years is only a mnimumtine franme, and that
MSHA coul d continue to inspect the mne every 5 days beyond 5
years until it was satisfied that it no | onger posed a potentia
hazard for a nethane expl osion.
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M. Schoffstall conceded that his concerns with the m ne dea
with potential hazards (Tr. 55). He expressed concern over
possi bl e bl ockage of escapeways and restriction of ventilation
due to roof falls (Tr. 64). He al so expressed concern that given
the present mne ventilation system there may be insufficient
gquantities of air available at certain |ocations which are
schedul ed for devel opment, and whether or not the ventilations
system may be sufficient to carry away nethane which nmay be
encountered. Yet, the m ne continues to operate under MSHA
approved roof-control and ventilation plans.

M. Schoffstall conceded that roof control or ventilation
control problens could develop in a mne at any tine due to
unknown facts and uncertainties, particularly in this mne which
he clains has a "borderline" ventilation system In my view, M.
Schoffstall's concerns are based on specul ati ve possibilities of
events which may or may not occur, rather than on any credible
evi dence establishing the existence of any definitive "especially
hazardous conditions” in the mne. Al nmnes pose a potential for
hazards connected with restricted ventilation and escapeways due
to roof falls, and inadequate air ventilation due to sone
breakdown in the ventilation system However, | find nothing in
section 103(i) which authorizes MSHA to keep a nmine on a
conti nuous 5Aday inspection cycle because of potential problens,
subsequent isol ated abated violative conditions which were not
directly related to the event which initially placed in the m ne
in a section 103(i) posture, or MSHA' s subjective undocunented
judgments that the nmine poses a "problem"

During closing argunents in this case, MSHA asserted that
because of the multitude of hazards that are presented in the
m ning industry, especially in cases of small operators such as
the one in this case, MSHA has discretion to maintain the
operator here on a protracted 5Aday inspection cycle and it need
not wait until another methane expl osion has occurred in the
m ne. Recognhizing the fact that its perceived discretion my not
be exercised in an unreasonable or illegal manner, and that it
must establish good cause for keeping the operator on a
conti nuous ongoi ng 5Aday inspection cycle, MSHA concludes that it
has established such good cause and has exercised its discretion
in a reasonable manner. | disagree. | conclude and find that the
only thing that MSHA has established is that the m ne experienced
a nmet hane or gas explosion on February 10, 1982, which resulted
in serious injuries to mners, which in turn triggered the
pl acenent of the mine on a 5 day section 103(i) inspection cycle.
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I further conclude and find that MSHA has produced no credible or

probative evidence to establish that the mine |iberates excessive
quantities of methane or other explosive gases during its
operations, or that there presently exists in the mine "other
especi ally hazardous conditions" justifying or warranting the
continuation of the mne on a section 103(i) 5Aday inspection
cycle for as long as this particular operator stays in business.

In short, | conclude and find that MSHA has failed to establish
good cause or reasons for nmintaining the operator in such a
position. | further conclude and find that on the facts of this

case, MSHA's unreasonabl e insistence on inspecting the mne every
5 days supports the operator's contention that such inspections
have interfered with its right to operate its mne w thout undue
interference from MSHA. | believe that MSHA has other avail abl e
enforcenent neans at its disposal to insure that the operator
here stays in conpliance with its safety standards short of what

| believe to be a rather arbitrary application of the

requi renents of section 103(i) of the Act.

In view of the foregoing findings and concl usi ons,
conclude that the operator's refusal to allow the MSHA inspectors
entry to his mne for the purpose of conducting section 103(i)
i nspections was justified and does not constitute a violation of
section 103(a) of the Act. Accordingly, the contested citations
and order served on the operator ARE VACATED.

ORDER
IT 1S ORDERED THAT:

1. Section 104(a) Citation Nos. 2840770 and 2740772,
and section 104(b) Order No. 2840771, ARE VACATED

2. MSHA's proposals for assessnent of civil penalties
ARE DENI ED AND DI SM SSED

George A. Koutras
Adm ni strative Law Judge



